No. 13-109393-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

LINDA SPIVEY Claimant/Appellant

v.

BREWSTER PLACE Respondent/Appellee

and
KANSAS ASSOCIATION OF HOMES FOR THE AGING
INSURANCE GROUP, INC.
Insurance Carrier

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Kansas Workers Compensation Appeals Board Docket No. 1,025,309

PAUL D. POST
Attorney for Claimant/Appellant
5897 SW 29th Street
Topeka, Kansas 66614
Sup. Ct. No. 08456
Phone: (785) 273-1353
Fax: (785) 273-1301

Email: paulpost@paulpost.com

I. STATEMENT OF NATURE OF THE CASE.

This is an original proceeding requesting review of the Order of the Kansas Workers Compensation Appeals Board entered in this case on January 28, 2013. The Claimant, Linda Spivey, was represented before the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) and the Appeals Board by Paul D. Post. The Respondent and its Insurance Carrier were represented throughout the case by Michael Entz, of Entz and Entz, P.A.

Ms. Spivey contends that she met with accidental injury in the performance of her duties with the Respondent on or about March 29, 2005. She claims injury to her head and neck, and also psychological injuries directly resulting from the physical injury. She also seeks work disability. In the alternative, she alleges that she is now permanently and totally disabled. The parties agreed that Ms. Spivey is covered by the Kansas Workers' Compensation Act. The Respondent first denied that Claimant was injured by an accident arising out of and in the course of her employment with Brewster Place, but later stipulated in writing that the Claimant met with personal injury by accident on the date alleged, admitted that the alleged accidental injury arose out of and in the course of employment, admitted timely written claim, and admitted timely notice (Stipulation filed with the Director on November 10, 2011, stating that the sole issue to be decided was nature and extent of disability, including functional impairment, work disability, and permanent total disability,

Vol. 1, pp. 301,302). The Respondent admitted that the relationship of employer and employee existed on the claimed accident date. There is was agreement on the Claimant's average weekly base wage made at the regular hearing in the amount of \$442.83. The November 11, 2011 Stipulation, at paragraph 2, also stipulated that the fringe benefits were \$65.08, making the total average week wage \$507.91 (Vol. 1, p. 422).

The ALJ appointed Dr. James Eyman, a psychologist, to evaluate Ms. Spivey. He did not perform a "one time" evaluation, but saw Ms. Spivey on two occasions in November and December 2008, two times in December 2010, and once in January 2011. Dr. Eyman diagnosed Ms. Spivey as suffering from a Delusional Disorder, a type of psychosis, which he felt originated as a result of the work accident. Dr. Eyman believed that her functional impairment attributable to this illness was 65% under the *AMA Guides, Fourth Edition*. Dr. Eyman also opined that Ms. Spivey is not capable of gainful employment.

In her Award, the ALJ found that the psychological injury was work-related. She agreed with Dr Eyman that the Claimant's functional impairment was 65%. Dr. Stein, who had also performed an IME, had opined that the physical injury resulted in a 2% whole body impairment. Judge Sanders adopted that opinion as part of her findings on functional impairment. The ALJ found that Claimant had work disability, with a task loss equal to 44% based upon the average of the three physician opinions on task loss. Wage loss was assigned based upon episodic periods of employment following the work injury. Certain medical bills were ordered paid. Future medical ordered. The claim for permanent total disability was denied.

In its January 28, 2013 Order, the Appeals Board found that the Claimant suffered

a work-related injury on March 29, 2005, but found that the Claimant suffered no permanent disability as a result of this accident. The Board found that the Claimant failed to prove that her psychiatric illness was directly related to the work-related physical injury. Accordingly, the Board reversed the decision of the ALJ. Claimant timely appealed from that decision and requested judicial review.

II. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

- A. Whether Claimant suffered a permanent disability in light of the record as a whole.
- B. Whether Claimant's psychiatric illness was directly related to the work-related physical injury in light of the record as a whole.
 - C. Whether Claimant was entitled to an award of work disability.
- D. Whether Claimant is permanently and totally disabled as a result of her work injury.

III. FACTS OF RECORD

The parties stipulated that the claimant met with accidental injury on March 29, 2005 during the course of her employment with the respondent, and with the other stipulations in the affirmative (Vol. 1, pp. 301-303). At the time of the regular hearing, respondent denied that the accident occurred and that it arose out of and in the course of employment with Brewster Place, which had been respondent's position from the outset of this case (Vol 6, p. 4). However, the testimony of Brenda Phillips, a co-worker who witnessed the accident, forced respondent to change its position on this issues. Ms. Phillips completely corroborated claimant's testimony concerning the accident, testifying that a piece of steel six to twelve

inches long and three to four inches wide fell from the top of a door and struck Ms. Spivey on her head (Vol. a, pp. 7, 13). Ms. Phillips observed the top of Ms. Spivey's head and stated that "She had a really big goose egg instantly from it." (Vol. 9, p. 8). Ms. Phillips stated the prior to this accident, Ms. Spivey had gotten along well with other employees (Vol. 9, p. 14). After the accident, Ms. Spivey had difficulty doing her work and "kept getting headaches" (Vol. 9, p. 13).

On January 2, 2005, a few weeks before this accident, claimant had received a letter from Angela Dailey, Director of Human Resources with respondent, providing Ms. Spivey with a copy of her recent performance evaluation. Ms. Dailey commended Ms. Spivey for the good evaluation, noting that "Your Performance Appraisal indicates that you work well independently; you are always looking for work to be done; and you are dependable. Your are truly an asset to Brewster Place.") (Vol. 10, pp. 42-45, emphasis added, and also appended to this brief as Appendix I). The performance report, itself, under "Accomplishments," reflected that Ms. Spivey was capable of "Working through times when [there were] difficulties with staff relations with a positive outcome." Also included was a commendation for Ms. Spivey's ability "To identify residents as individuals and to give them the respect they deserve, resident centered care." (Vol. 10, pp. 42-45, emphasis added). Ms.. Spivey received a pay raise on account of her good evaluation. Yet less than six months after the accident in question, Ms. Spivey was terminated for "unacceptable activities" which included allegedly threatening another employee (which Ms Spivey vehemently denied). (Vol. 10, pp 46-48). After her termination from employment, Ms. Spivey filed a discrimination suit against Brewster Place in the U.S. District Court for the District of Kansas, in case number 06-CV-04041-RDR, alleging employment discrimination. Brewster Place ultimately paid Ms. Spivey \$33,000.00 to settle that claim in April 2011 (Vol 11 pp 14, 68-71; Vol. 11 pp 96-98). The statement by Angela Dailey that the suit was dismissed was incorrect to the extent that it implied that Ms. Spivey did not prevail. (Vol. 10, pp 23-24).

After Brewster Place, claimant went to work for McCrite Plaza, but ultimately quit there because she thought other employees were abusive towards her (Vol. 11, p 42; Ex 12). She only worked there for about seven months. In her claim for unemployment against McCrite, Ms. Spivey stated that "I was discriminated, harassed, humiliated, verbally and physically abused by Rita Davenport (DON) [Director of Nursing]. I could no longer subject myself to that type of treatment" (Vol. 11, pp, 133-134).

After working for McCrite Plaza, Ms. Spivey worked for Topeka Adult Care, but was terminated twice from that employment, because "The employment didn't work out. I kept having flashbacks. There was a lot of things that was [sic] going on with my psychologically at this time which maybe I shouldn't say anything right now, but —" (interrupted by Mr. Entz) (Vol. 11, p. 35).

Prior to her accident, claimant had never had any psychological treatment. She was not treated for depression on an ongoing basis. Years earlier, around 1995, when going through a divorce, she talked to a counselor two or three times, because she was depressed going through the divorce, but after that decided to proceed on with the divorce. Whatever problems she was experiencing resolved when the divorce was concluded (Vol 6, p. 27). Prior to the accident, she was able to perform all of her job duties that were required by her

employers (Vol 6, p. 28).

Dr. James Eyman, a psychologist, performed a court-ordered IME of claimant, with the evaluation beginning on November 11, 2008, and continuing with follow-up meetings with claimant on December 3, 2008, and January 8, 26, and 29, 2009. (Vol 1, pp. 166-174). Dr Eyman had extensive work records and medical records which he reviewed as part of his evaluation process. His medical records included a report from Dr. Lynn Curtis, who diagnosed the claimant with occipital neuralgia, ligamentous instability, and depression on March 2, 2006, less than one year after the accident. Jeanne Frieman, Ph.D., conducted a psychological examination on July 17, 2006, and concluded that Ms. Spivey suffered from "Major Depression, severe with psychotic features and Generalized Anxiety Disorder with Agoraphobia." (Emphasis added). Dr. Frieman described Ms. Spivey as "being depressed and hopeless about her future as well as believing that 'others are out to get her." Dr. Eyman noted in his report that Dr. Frieman thought the depression preexisted the work accident, but increased after the accident. (Vol 1, p. 169).

Dr. Eyman stated that claimant saw Dr. Ziad Haddad, a neurology resident at the K.U. Medical Center on October 12, 2005, less than six months after the accident, who diagnosed her with tension headaches due to a head injury, and possible depression. Dr. Olivia Fondable, Ms. Spivey's primary care physician, and Dr. Jonson Huang, a neurologist, diagnosed claimant as having blurred vision and headaches due to her head trauma. In September 2007, claimant was referred to Dr. Joseph Sankoorikal, who diagnosed myofascial pain disorder due to her head injury (Vol 1, p. 170).

Dr. Eyman concluded that Ms. Spivey was currently suffering from a Delusional

Disorder, persecutory type (DSM-IV 297.1), in that "she has a systemic delusional (false) beliefs that Brewster Place is conspiring against her and has the power to enlist doctors, and other individuals to harm her and thwart her medical care." (Vol 1, p. 174).

Dr. Eyman conducted a follow-up court-ordered IME with Ms. Spivey, with evaluations occurring on December 28 and 30, 2010, and January 5, 2011. He described her as continuing to insist that she has "brain damage" as a result of her work injury, and that she also experienced flashbacks, anxiety, depression, pain, and dizziness. The flashbacks included her belief that a small man had been standing behind her when she was injured, and that he hit her over the head, attempting to "ambush" her on the job. She thought Brewster Place had surveillance cameras which captured her injury, but that the film in the camera was destroyed by Brewster Place to leave no evidence of the attack. She thought Brewster Place had attempted to murder her. Ms. Spivey also experienced physical pain in her shoulders and neck which she related to the accident. She continued to ruminate on the accident "all the time." (Vol 1, p. 270).

Dr. Eyman concluded that claimant continued to suffer from a Delusional Disorder, which she did not have prior to the accident. Dr. Eyman stated that such a disorder is "extremely difficult to treat, and most individuals, even with treatment, do not become less delusional because they have such poor insight into the nature and severity of the illness." (Vol. 1, p. 272). Dr. Eyman opined that Ms. Spivey has a 65% impairment as a result of her psychological injury. He based this on the *AMA Guides*, 2nd Edition, noting that the 4th Edition does not give percentage impairments to classes of mental impairment. Using the 4th Edition, Dr. Eyman found that claimant fell into the "marked impairment" class, which

translated into the 65% if the 2nd Edition is consulted (Vol. 1, P. 279). As to work disability, Dr. Eyman thought that Ms. Spivey is not capable of gainful employment, and is thus permanently and totally disabled (Vol. 13, p 109).

Dr. Lynn Curtis evaluated the claimant on several occasions over the years, the first being on September 18, 2005, less than six months after the accident, and with subsequent evaluations on March 2, 2006, July 3, 2008, February 8, 2010, and October 1, 2010. Although Dr. Curtis never thought that Ms. Spivey was at MMI, he did provide a rating in his March 2, 2006, which found that she should be awarded 5% impairment for occipital neuralgia, 25% for ligamentous instability in the area of C1-2 of the cervical spine using the DRE Category IV, and 15% for mild to moderate depression. (Vol. 8, p. 86).

Respondent did not hire its own physician to conduct an evaluation to determine what physical impairments resulted from the injury. Dr. Patrick Hughes, a medical doctor, was not asked to conduct a physical examination. He limited his evaluation to a psychological examination (Vol. 14, pp. 62-69). Rather, respondent relied upon the opinion of Dr. Paul Stein, who had conducted a court-ordered IME on July 24, 2009, and concluded in his report to the court that Ms. Spivey had a 2% whole body impairment as a result of her work accident, using the *AMA Guides*, Fourth Edition. (Vol. 1, pp. 191-199). In his deposition, he changed his mind and said that Ms. Spivey had no impairment (Vol. 16, p. 15). However, Dr. Stein was not asked to reevaluate Ms. Spivey. He only saw her on the one occasion, which was July 24, 2009. He has not seen her since then (entire Stein depo, Vol. 16). He reviewed no new medical records. His original IME report, (Vol. 1, p. 199), also states that Ms. Spivey is psychotic. He also testified that the constellation of other symptoms he

described in his report could be the result of a delusional disorder (Vol.16 p. 27). Dr. Stein also conceded that there were no medical records prior to this accident which showed that Ms. Spivey was complaining of headaches (Vol. 16, p. 30). Dr. Stein also admitted that he could have stated in his report that there was no impairment, or that any impairment was not related to the work accident, but he did not do so (Vol. 16, p. 31).

Dr. Hughes testified that in his opinion, Ms. Spivey suffered from major depression with psychotic features (Vol. 14, p. 18). He testified that a major depressive disorder "means the person who has more than one episode of pretty well full-blown major depression symptoms and then gets well and then they come back later in life" (Vol. 14, p. 18). However, Dr. Hughes had no medical records at all pre-dating the Claimant's work-related injury in March 2005 (Vol. 14, p. 33). Rather than relying on medical records, Dr. Hughes testified that her employment records showed that Ms. Spivey "got sick again in 2004" in that she was developing paranoia then (Vol. 14, p. 36). The employment records he was looking at were two evaluations, one in February 2004 (her first evaluation) where she received an overall satisfactory report that included comments describing Ms. Spivey as "dependable and resourceful, open and sharing." Dr. Hughes contrasted this to her December 2004 evaluation (which was also satisfactory) wherein the evaluator stated that Ms. Spivey "needed to be more of a team player, be more cooperative" with other employees" (Appendix I). Dr. Hughes stated that this noted change in her evaluation "was strongly suggestive to me that she was developing paranoia during the course of the year: (Vol. 14, p. 38). He later acknowledged that Ms. Spivey received a satisfactory report for both February and December 2004, but that the November report was "just not as good as her first one." He also admitted that the reports "wouldn't in and of themselves . . . indicate that [paranoia]" (Vol. 14, pp. 39-40).

Further, even though he had no medical records prior to 2005, he saw one record of treatment after the accident which referenced the fact that Ms. Spivey had been seen at Valeo Mental Health Center in 1995 for a one-time treatment for depression. He did not ask to see that particular record. Despite never having seen it, Dr. Hughes testified that Ms. Spivey must have been prescribed medication for her depression. He did not know what sort of therapy Ms. Spivey underwent in 1995. Then, he testified that "whatever therapy she got in 1995 was not relevant" (Vol. 14, pp. 44-42). In his report as well as his testimony, Dr. Hughes also stated that Ms. Spivey's major depression that he claimed to have diagnosed was the result of a "depression gene" – an inherited gene that "is the most medically probable cause of Ms. Spivey's currently disabling, chronic Major Depression with psychotic features ..." (Vol. 14, pp. 23-24, 68) (emphasis original). However, Respondent's other expert, Dr. Kathleen Keenan, a psychologist, testified that "most psychologists and most psychiatrists don't think that [depression] is gene related." She testified that Dr. Hughes' opinion as to depression being genetically caused was an "outlier" and that, "In my opinion major depression is not gene related." "I do not think major depression is a genetic disorder" (Vol. 15, pp.60-61, 110 Ex 4, "Misconceptions about gene-environment interactions in psychiatry").

In addition to the diagnosis made by Dr. Eyman that Ms. Spivey suffered from a delusional disorder, the Social Security Administration had Ms. Spivey evaluated for disability determination purposes. The findings and results of that report were the same as

that of Dr. Eyman, with the diagnosis made by the evaluator, Dr Carol Adams, being "delusional disorder persecutory type" (Vol. 15, pp. 91-100).

Dr. Keenan also admitted that she did not have complete medical records. She had no records from Ms. Spivey's current treater, Sheila Redmond, even though the treatment had been going on prior to Dr. Keenan's evaluation. She did not have any records from Dr. Gordon Parks, a psychiatrist who had also been treating Ms. Spivey. Dr. Keenan had no records from Dr. Jean-Daniel Policard, a psychiatrist with Woodbridge Counseling Services, who had also been treating Ms. Spivey and had evaluated her. Dr. Keenan did not have any records from Dr. Betsy Johns, Ms. Spivey's primary care physician. Dr. Keenan testified that it is important to have all medical records if one is going to accurately evaluate a patient: "The more records you have the more helpful it is." (Vol. 15, pp. 36-37). Dr. Keenan testified that Ms. Spivey told her that she was treating with these professionals, but Dr. Keenan never asked that the records be provided. She acknowledged that she could have requested these records (Vol. 15, p. 42). Even though Dr. Keenan diagnosed Ms. Spivey as suffering from depression, she, like Dr. Hughes, had no medical records at all prior to the work injury in 2005. She, like Dr. Hughes, only had employment records. (Vol. 15, p. 38). Again, parroting what Dr. Hughes stated, Dr. Keenan testified that the only evidence that she had to support her claim that Ms. Spivey suffered from depression prior to the accident was that the employment evaluations showed that "she had an argument with her supervisor and another nurse" and this, despite the fact that the both evaluations that Dr. Keenan reviewed rated Ms. Spivey at satisfactory or above satisfactory (Vol. 15. 43-44) Dr. Keenan testified that Ms. Spivey "had a major depressive episode in 1995" but had never looked at the

records concerning that alleged episode (Vol. 15, p. 39). Despite her testimony that Ms. Spivey suffered from major depression in 1995, she did not even include that finding in her written report (Vol. 15, p. 41, 90-92) but only added that opinion during her deposition testimony.

Dr. Keenan performed some testing on Ms. Spivey. One of those tests was the Beck Depression Inventory which Dr. Keenan testified was a tool to evaluate depression. Ms. Spivey's score on the Beck Depression Inventory was 23, which was "considerably below the indicator for severe depression (Vol. 15, p. 48). Dr. Keenan also testified that the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSV IV-TR), which she considered authoritative, specifies at page 376 that if a delusional disorder better accounts for a patient's condition as compared to major depressive episodes, the preferred diagnosis to be used is a delusional disorder, which is exactly what Dr. Eyman found to exists (Vol. 15, pp. 50-52).

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