No. 13-109393-A

FILED

MAY 2 4 2013

CAROL G. GREEN CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

LINDA SPIVEY Claimant/Appellant

v.

BREWSTER PLACE Respondent/Appellee

and
KANSAS ASSOCIATION OF HOMES FOR THE AGING
INSURANCE GROUP, INC.
Insurance Carrier

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the Kansas Workers Compensation Appeals Board Docket No. 1025,309

> Michael L. Entz 1414 SW Ashworth Place, Suite 201 Topeka, Kansas 66604 Sup. Ct. No. 17727 Phone: (785) 267-5004

Fax: (785) 267-7106 E-mail: mike@entzlaw.com

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

LINDA SPIVEY Claimant/Appellant

v.

BREWSTER PLACE Respondent/Appellee

and

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

IV. ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

The Workers Compensation Act adopts the Kansas Act for Judicial Review and Civil Enforcement of Agency Actions (KJRA), K.S.A. 77–601 *et seq.*, for workers compensation cases. K.S.A. 44–556(a). The burden of proving the invalidity of an agency action is on the party asserting invalidity. K.S.A. 77-621(a)(1). The Court may grant relief "only if" certain conditions exists. K.S.A. 77-621(c).

Claimant's arguments fail to delineate the statutory bases for review, therefore, appropriate standard of review is lost and the arguments evolve into an attempt to reargue the Board's findings of fact.

I. The Board Properly Interpreted and Applied the Law After Finding that Claimant Suffered No Permanent Disability.

Proper analysis under K.S.A. 77-621(c)(4) requires the Court to determine whether the Board's findings of fact were properly applied to the law in reaching the Board's decision. In the present case, the Board found that Claimant "suffers no permanent disability as the result of this work-accident." (Board Order, p. 20) With this finding, the Board applied the law and awarded no benefits for permanent total or permanent partial disability. On appeal, Claimant asks the Court to reweigh the evidence as to whether a disability exists, *and then* apply the law and award benefits that might be available under Claimant's alternative findings. Respondent respectfully submits that Claimant's attempt to re-argue the facts using K.S.A. 77-621(c)(4) is inappropriate. The Board did not erroneously interpret or apply the law based on the findings of fact.

A. Standard of Review.

K.S.A. 77-621(c)(4) allows appellate review of an agency's decision to determine whether that agency "erroneously interpreted or applied the law." When the facts in a workers compensation case are not disputed, the question is whether the Board correctly applied those facts to the law, which the appellate court reviews *de novo*. *Tyler v*.

Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 43 Kan. App. 2d 386, 388-89, 224 P.3d 1197, 1199 (2010), citing, Martinez v. Excel Corp., 32 Kan. App. 2d 139, 142, 79 P.3d 230 (2003).

Respondent respectfully submits that *de novo* review is not applicable to the Court's review under K.S.A. 77-621(c)(4) in this matter because Claimant's brief clearly shows that the facts remain disputed. Notwithstanding Claimant's reference to the incorrect standard for review under K.S.A. 77-621(c)(4), there are no arguments in Claimant's

brief to explain how the Board incorrectly applied the findings of fact to the law. Nor are any arguments asking this Court to interpret the Kansas Workers Compensation Act.

Instead, Claimant is asking this Court to reweigh the facts as to whether a disability exists, *and then* apply them to the law. This type of review is specifically restricted under K.S.A.77-621(d).

B. <u>The Workers Compensation Act Only Allows Benefits When Permanent</u> Disability Exists.

The Kansas Workers Compensation Act (the "Act") provides benefits for permanent partial (K.S.A. 44-510d & e) and permanent total disability (K.S.A. 44-510c). The express language of each of these statutes ties an injured worker's right to compensation to the existence of a "disability." K.S.A. 44-510c, which allows benefits for permanent total disability, provides that "[t]he payment of compensation for permanent total disability shall continue for the duration of such disability." (Emphasis added). K.S.A. 44-510d, which allows benefits for permanent partial disabilities to injuries to certain body parts, provides "[w]here disability... results...the injured employee shall be entitled to ...compensation...". (Emphasis added). Lastly, K.S.A. 44-510e(a), which allows benefits for permanent partial disabilities to the whole body, provides that "[p]ermanent partial general disability exists when the employee is disabled in a manner which is partial in character and permanent in quality." (*Emphasis added*). This Court, in Blaskowski v. Cheney Door Co., 2012 WL 3444330, *3, 286 P.3d 239 (2012) (unpublished opinion), found that "any use of the [work disability] formula... presupposes that the 'employee is disabled in a manner that is partial in character and permanent in quality.' This requires a threshold finding of a permanent impairment or disability before applying the formula for work disability."

Claimant asserts that the Board erroneously interpreted or applied the law, but fails to provide any argument in support of this argument. In fact, unless the Court reweighs the evidence and changes the Board's findings of fact (which is not appropriate in reviewing a question of law), Claimant provides no argument or explanation to support the assertion that the Board erroneously interpreted or applied the law. For this reason, Claimant fails to satisfy her burden to show that the Board's action is invalid, and thereby K.S.A. 77-621(c)(4) provides no basis for relief.

II. The Board's Action is Supported by Substantial Evidence.

Claimant's request for relief from the Board's action under both K.S.A. 77-621(c)(7) and K.S.A. 77-621(c)(8) requires this Court to determine whether there is substantial evidence to support the Board's findings.

A. Standard of Review.

K.S.A. 77–621(c)(7) provides relief when an agency's action is based on a determination of fact "that is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the record as a whole." Substantial evidence "is such evidence as a reasonable person might accept as being sufficient to support a conclusion." Herrera-Gallegos v. H & H Delivery Serv., Inc., 42 Kan. App. 2d 360, 363, 212 P.3d 239, 242 (2009), citing Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Kansas, Inc. v. Praeger, 276 Kan. 232, 263, 75 P.3d 226 (2003). The Board's decision should be upheld if supported by substantial evidence, even though there is other evidence in the record supporting contrary findings. Mitchell v. PetSmart, Inc., 291 Kan. 153, 172, 239 P.3d 51 (2011).

The appellate court does "not reweigh the evidence or engage in de novo review..., but... must... consider all of the evidence – including evidence that detracts from the agency's factual findings – when ...assess[ing] whether the evidence is substantial enough to support [the agency's] findings. *Herrera-Gallegos* at 363; *K.S.A.* 77-621(d). In other words, the appellate court must determine "whether the evidence supporting the agency's decision has been so undermined by cross-examination or other evidence that it is insufficient to support the agency's conclusions." *Herrera-Gallegos* at 363.

K.S.A. 77–621(c)(8) provides relief when an agency's action "is otherwise unreasonable, arbitrary or capricious." An agency's action is arbitrary and capricious if it is unreasonable, without foundation in fact, not supported by substantial evidence, or without adequate determining principles. *Denning v. Johnson Cnty., Sheriff's Civil Serv.*Bd., 46 Kan. App. 2d 688, 701, 266 P.3d 557, 568 (2011).

1. <u>There is Substantial Evidence to Support the Board's Finding that Claimant Did Not Sustain Any Permanent Physical Impairment or Disability.</u>

The ALJ appointed Dr. Paul Stein to conduct an independent medical examination regarding functional impairment. Claimant erroneously asserts that "Dr. Stein **did** conclude that Ms. Spivey had a ratable impairment as a result of the injury." (*emphasis in original*) (citing Vol. 1, p. 177). This statement is <u>not</u> supported by the record. While Dr. Stein's July 24, 2009 report indicates that the AMA Guides would provide a 2% impairment for headaches, the report does *not* conclude that Claimant's headaches were the result of the work-accident. Contrary to what Claimant suggests, Dr. Stein did not "change[] his mind" or "retract" any of his opinions at his deposition. Instead, Dr. Stein

responded to specific questions regarding causation. In doing so, Dr. Stein confirmed that he did not believe that the accident in question would cause the headaches Claimant was reporting. (Vol. 16, p. 26). Dr. Stein also noted that it would be "very unusual" for headaches to get worse with time given the nature of the accident and the initial symptoms. (Vol. 16, p. 26). Most importantly, Dr. Stein confirmed that Claimant has no functional impairment related to the March 29, 2005 incident. (Vol. 16, p. 13). In doing so, Dr. Stein confirmed what all of Claimant's previous providers (except Dr. Curtis) concluded – there is no permanent physical impairment or disability resulting from the March 29, 2005 incident. (Vol. 16, p. 10).

The only testimony regarding physical functional impairment were the opinions of Dr. Lynn Curtis, who was hired by Claimant to prepare six (6) separate reports, each containing different diagnosis, rating, restrictions, and most importantly, errors and oversights. On the issue of functional impairment, neither the ALJ nor the Board viewed Dr. Curtis as credible. Therefore, it is unlikely that Dr. Curtis' opinions would undermine the opinions of the court-ordered physician on the issue of functional impairment.

2. <u>There is Substantial Evidence to Support the Board's Finding that Claimant's Psychiatric Illness Is Not a Compensable Disability.</u>

Claimant's fallback for the lack of a physical functional impairment is to assert a claim based her psychiatric illness. On this point, the Board considered the opinions of four mental health specialists, to conclude that Claimant's psychiatric illness is unrelated to the work-injury. Claimant, who has never sought or received treatment from Respondent for psychological problems, argues that the Board's findings are not

supported by substantial evidence. In order to succeed in this argument, Claimant must convince the Court that the opinions of Patrick Hughes, Ph.D ("Hughes"), and Kathleen Keenan, Ph.D ("Keenan"), and Jeanne Frieman ('Freiman") (retained by claimant), are so undermined by the opinions of James Eyman that Hughes', Keenan's and Frieman's opinions are insufficient to support the Board's conclusions.

Dr. Hughes, Keenan, and Jeanne Frieman all conducted comprehensive evaluations of Claimant's presentation. In doing so, each considered pre-injury and post-injury conduct, including a battery of psychological testing to reveal evidence of depression, delusions, and paranoia. Each of them arrived at the same diagnosis – Major Depression with Psychotic Features, which has been described as a more complete explanation for Claimant's psychotic behavior.

Keenan testified that Claimant's psychological problems are separate and apart from the work accident, and because these problems went untreated, they naturally evolved to include psychotic behavior. Keenan explained that Claimant simply uses the work accident to "externalize the craziness that she [is] feeling inside... it's a way for her to explain it, to make sense of it, to justify it..." In other words, the work-accident didn't cause the delusions. Instead, Claimant's mind is using the work-accident to explain her bizarre conduct. Similarly, Claimant's co-workers did not cause Claimant's paranoia. Instead, Claimant attempts to make sense out of the paranoia with accusations of discrimination against her co-workers.

According to Hughes and Keenan, Claimant's psychological illness was not caused or aggravated by the work accident. Hughes testified that Claimant's inability to

properly process the events going on around her would exist regardless of whether Claimant sustained a work-injury.

Claimant argues that Eyman's "Delusional Disorder" diagnosis is sufficient to undermine Board's reliance on the opinions of Hughes and Keenan. Yet, the record shows that Eyman arrived at this diagnosis without successfully completing psychological testing (Vol. 13, p. 23), without *any* consideration for Claimant's pre- and post-injury paranoia (Vol. 13, 19-20), *and* without any knowledge of Claimant's self-admitted pre-injury depression. (Vol. 15, p. 9-10).

Eyman's response to the idea that Claimant was suffering from an episode of Major Depression, was that Claimant "is not currently severely depressed." (Vol. 13, Ex. 3, p.5, 2nd full para). This opinion alone raises serious questions as to the foundation and credibility of Eyman's diagnosis because Claimant *herself* reported to Dr. Keenan was she was depressed and self-rated her depression at a ten (10) on a scale of 1 to 10 with 10 being "severe." (Vol. 15, p. 9-10). In addition, Claimant scored a 23 on the Beck Depression Inventory 2, where a score of 20 or higher indicates significant depression. (Vol. 14, p. 17-8).

Dr. Hughes testified that it was "significant" that Eyman did not know about Claimant's clinical depression in 1995 and 2004 because early episodes of depression are indicative of how Major Depression evolves. (Vol. 14, p. 15-6).

Interestingly, Eyman admitted that antidepressant medication would not have a beneficial effect for someone with delusional disorder (Vol. 14, p. 58). Yet, Dr. Hughes confirmed that Claimant reported feeling calmer, sleeping better, and feeling less depressed after she started taking antidepressant medications. (Vol. 14, p. 20 & 45; Ex.

2, p. 5). From this, one must ask: If Eyman was correct and Claimant did have a delusional disorder, but a person with delusional disorder does not benefit from antidepressant medication, then why did Claimant report improvements while taking antidepressant medications. Even more interesting is the fact that Claimant's current treatment through the social security administration is not for a delusional disorder. (Vol. 13, p. 33).

The Board acted appropriate and upon substantial evidence when it reversed the ALJ's acceptance of Eyman's opinion, which contained deficiencies with respect to the scope of the evaluation and foundation for the opinions expressed therein.

3. Eyman's Opinion on Causation is Not Based On Competent Evidence

Eyman testified that the work-accident caused the Delusion Disorder because "Ms. Spivey does not appear to have had a delusional disorder prior to her work accident." (Vol. 13, Ex. 3, p. 8). With this statement, Eyman acknowledges that he simply looked for delusions about the perceived injury *before* the date of accident, and having not found any (because the accident hadn't occurred yet), Eyman concluded that Claimant's behaviors were caused by the accident. The fundamental flaw with the logic is that Eyman overlooked unrelated underlying mental incapacities that have been identified by other mental health providers as the true cause of Claimant's bizarre conduct.

The Kansas Supreme Court found that an expert's opinion on causation is "inadequate" when it is based on nothing more than *post hoc, ergo proper hoc* logic: the symptoms follow the accident; therefore, they must be due to it. *Kuxhausen v. Tillman*

Partners, 291 Kan. 314, 320; 241 P.3d 75 (2010). Similarly, the Court of Appeals has held in a workers compensation case that "when the salient question is the cause of the medical condition, the maxim of post hoc, ergo proper hoc is not competent evidence of causation." Gann v. Driver Management, Inc. 147 P.3d 163, 2006 WL 3589971, at *3 (Kan.App. 2006). See also Chriestenson v. Candies, 46 Kan.App.2d 453, 263 P.3d 821 (2011). In the present case, Claimant argues that the Court should accept Eyman's opinions over the opinions of three other mental health providers despite the fact that Eyman's opinion on causation applies logic that the Kansas courts have deemed to be incompetent.

The issue of causation in a workers compensation case must be based on substantial evidence and not on mere speculation. *Anderson v. Victory Junction**Restaurant*, 144 P.3d 782, 206 WL 3056514 at *2 (Kan.App. 2006). Eyman did not think Claimant was depressed. (Vol. 13, Ex. 3, p.5, 2nd full para.). Yet, Claimant self-reported her depression at a level of 10 (Vol. 15, p. 9-10), which was confirmed by diagnostic testing. (Vol. 15, p. 17-8). At the same time, Eyman could not say for certain whether Claimant had paranoid personality. (Vol. 13, p. 16). Yet, the social security administration has place Claimant on total disability for a schizophrenic, paranoid and personality disorder. (Vol. 13, Ex. 2, p. 1). In short, the record contains numerous examples of how Eyman's narrow evaluation lead him to a conclusion that is inconsistent with all the other medical providers (including current providers with the SSA). By applying such generic logic, Eyman overlooked key aspects of Claimant's presentation.

4. <u>Missing Medical Records Are Irrelevant</u>

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